

LD 2144 (2023)

# FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENT

between

# **COUNCIL OF EUROPE DEVELOPMENT BANK**

and

# **REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA**

Balti Regional Hospital Project Loan

AN.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1. IN	TERPRETATION	
1.1	DEFINITIONS	5
1.2	CONSTRUCTION	
1.3	HEADINGS	
1.4	ROUNDING	
2. CO	ONDITIONS	and the state of the reserve the second of the second
	JRPOSE	
	NANCIAL CONDITIONS	
4.1	LOAN AMOUNT	
4.2	DISBURSEMENT AMOUNT	
4.2		
4.4	DISBURSEMENT PROCEDURE	
4.4	DISBURSEMENT PERIOD	
4.5	DISBURSEMENT CONDITIONS	
	REPAYMENT	
4.7	PREPAYMENT	
4.8	INTEREST DETERMINATION	
4.9	DEFAULT INTEREST RATE	
4.10	MARKET DISRUPTION EVENT	
4.11	PAYMENTS	
5. PR	ROJECT IMPLEMENTATION	13
5.1	DUTY OF CARE	
5.2	ALLOCATION PERIOD	
5.3	PROJECT COSTS	
5.4	PROJECT SPECIFIC UNDERTAKINGS	
5.5	PROCUREMENT	
5.6	ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL SAFEGUARDS	
5.7	HUMAN RIGHTS	
5.8	INTEGRITY	
5.9	VISIBILITY	
6. M	ONITORING	16
6.1	REPORTING	
6.2	Visits	
6.3	AUDIT	
6.4	PROJECT INFORMATION	
6.5	BORROWER INFORMATION	
6.6	FINANCIAL COVENANTS	
	RI PASSU	
7.1	Ranking	
7.2	Security	
7.3	CLAUSE BY INCLUSION	
7.4	PREPAYMENT TO THIRD PARTIES	
8. REI	PRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	18
9. TH	IIRD PARTIES	
	NON-WAIVER	
	TRANSFER	
	ILLEGALITY	
The second secon		

13.	NO HARDSHIP	20
14.	GOVERNING LAW	20
15.	DISPUTES	20
16.	DATA PROTECTION	20
17.	NOTICES	21
18.	TAXES AND EXPENSES	22
19.	DISCHARGE	22
20.	ENTRY INTO FORCE	22
APPE	ENDIX 1	
APPE	ENDIX 2	BURRY 2011
APPE	ENDIX 3	22
APPE	NDIX 4	34
	resident and because he of the Council of France stated 2 pourse to a some	

(C) the instruction of the CER's Loan Regulations, as adopted by the CER's Administrative Council Resolution 1587 (2016) (hereingiter, the "Loan Regulations").

10) Making regard to the CEB's Lean and Project Financing Robey, as adopted by the CFB's Automative Council Resolution 1646 (2022) (hereinafter, the "Lean Policy").

The Council to the Collis Environmental and Social Safaguards Policy, as adopted by the samulatrative Council Resolution 1588 (2015) thereinafter, the "Environmental and Social Safaguards Policy").

HO articles regard to the CEB's Prozurement Buildelines, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative and Education September 2011 (herefrafeer, the "Procurement Guidelines").

Council Resolution 1679 (2022) Protection Regulation, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1679 (2022) Protection the "Data Protection Regulation").

This staying copard in the Color and Conseption Charter, as adopted by the Color Administrative Color of Revolution 1678 (2021), and

(ii) review regard to the CEB's Policy on Non-compliant/Uncooperative turnsdictions, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1630 (2021);

HEREBY ACREE AN POLICIONE

**COUNCIL OF EUROPE DEVELOPMENT BANK**, international organisation with its headquarters at 55, Avenue Kléber, 75116 Paris (France) (hereinafter, the "CEB" or the "Bank"), on the one hand,

and

REPUBLIC OF MOLDOVA, (hereinafter, the "Borrower" and together with the CEB, the "Parties" and each a "Party"), on the other hand,

#### WHEREAS

- (A) Having regard to the loan application submitted by the Republic of Moldova on 6 January 2023, approved by the CEB's Administrative Council on 27 January 2023,
- (B) Having regard to the Third Protocol dated 6 March 1959 to the General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe dated 2 September 1949,
- (C) Having regard to the CEB's Loan Regulations, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1587 (2016) (hereinafter, the "Loan Regulations"),
- (D) Having regard to the CEB's Loan and Project Financing Policy, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1646 (2022) (hereinafter, the "Loan Policy"),
- (E) Having regard to the CEB's Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1588 (2016) (hereinafter, the "Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy"),
- (F) Having regard to the CEB's Procurement Guidelines, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council in September 2011 (hereinafter, the "Procurement Guidelines"),
- (G) Having regard to the CEB's Data Protection Regulation, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1639 (2022) (hereinafter, the "Data Protection Regulation"),
- (H) Having regard to the CEB's Anti-Corruption Charter, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1628 (2021), and
- (I) Having regard to the CEB's Policy on Non-compliant/Uncooperative Jurisdictions, as adopted by the CEB's Administrative Council Resolution 1630 (2021),

## **HEREBY AGREE AS FOLLOWS:**

# 1. INTERPRETATION

### 1.1 Definitions

The following terms shall have the meaning indicated below, except as the context requires otherwise:

"Agreement" means this framework loan agreement, including its appendices.

"Allocation" means the commitment of a Tranche by the Borrower to the eligible component parts of the Project even if such Tranche has not yet been paid out under the Project.

"Allocation Period" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 5.2.

"Business Day" means, in relation to payments in Euro, any day on which TARGET 2 (the Trans European Automated Real-time Gross Settlement Express Transfer system) is operating.

"Closing Date" means the date specified under Appendix 1 hereto from which no further disbursements under the Loan may take place.

"Completion Report" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 6.1 (b).

"Cross-Default Event" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 6.6 (a).

"Currency" means, for the purposes of the Agreement, Euro.

"Day Count Convention" means the convention for determining the number of days between two dates and the number of days in a year specified in the relevant Disbursement Notice.

"Debt Instrument" means (i) any loan or other form of financial indebtedness; (ii) an instrument, including any receipt or statement of account, evidencing or constituting an obligation to repay a loan, deposit, advance or similar extension of credit (including without limitation any extension of credit under a refinancing or rescheduling agreement), (iii) a bond, note, debt security, debenture or similar written evidence of financial indebtedness; or (iv) an instrument evidencing a guarantee of an obligation constituting financial indebtedness of another.

"Default Interest Rate" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.9.

"Disbursement Date" means the date on which a Tranche is scheduled to be disbursed pursuant to the applicable Disbursement Notice.

"Disbursement Notice" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.3 (b).

"Disbursement Request" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.3 (a).

"Effective Date" means the date of entry into force of the Agreement resulting from Clause 20.

"EU" means the European Union.

"EURIBOR" means the percentage rate quoted by any financial news provider acceptable to the CEB at or about 11.00 a.m. Brussels time on the Interest Determination Date as the Euro wholesale funding rate administrated by the European Money Market Institute (or any other entity which takes over the administration of that rate) for the same period as the relevant Interest Period.

If the relevant Interest Period is not the same as a period quoted by the relevant financial news provider, the applicable EURIBOR shall be the percentage rate resulting from a linear interpolation by reference to two (2)

EURIBOR rates, one of which is applicable for a period of whole months next shorter and the other for a period of whole months next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period.

"Euro" and the sign "EUR" means the lawful currency of the Member States of the EU which from time to time adopt it as their currency in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Treaty of the EU and the Treaty on the Functioning of the EU or their succeeding treaties.

**"European Convention on Human Rights"** means the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms dated 4 November 1950, CETS No. 5, as amended from time to time.

"European Social Charter" means the European Social Charter dated 3 May 1996, CETS No. 163, as amended from time to time.

"Final Beneficiaries" are specified under Appendix 1 hereto as the group benefitting from the social effects of the Project.

"Fixed Interest Rate" means the interest rate per annum specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

"Floating Interest Rate" means the interest rate *per annum* determined by adding or subtracting the Spread specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice to or from, as the case may be, the Reference Rate.

For the avoidance of doubt, when the determination of the Floating Interest Rate results in a negative interest rate (due to a quoted negative Reference Rate, to the operation of a Spread that is subtracted from the Reference Rate or to any other circumstances), the interest to be paid by the Borrower for the Interest Period shall be deemed to be zero.

"Forecasted Expenditure" means the eligible costs planned to be incurred under the Project over the period of one (1) year.

"Incurred Expenditure" means the eligible costs incurred by the Project Implementing Entity.

"Interest Determination Date" means, for the purposes of determination of a Floating Interest Rate, the day falling two (2) Business Days prior to the first day of the Interest Period, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Disbursement Notice.

"Interest Payment Dates" means the dates for the payment of interest corresponding to the relevant Interest Period specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

"Interest Period" means the period commencing on an Interest Payment Date and ending on the day immediately prior to the following Interest Payment Date, provided that the first Interest Period applicable to each Tranche shall commence on the Disbursement Date and end on the day immediately prior to the next Interest Payment Date.

"Loan" means the loan granted to the Borrower by the CEB by means of the Agreement.

"Loan Amount" means the amount specified under Sub-clause 4.1.

"Market Disruption Event" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.10.

"Material Adverse Change" means any event which, in CEB's opinion, (i) materially impairs the Borrower's ability to perform its financial obligations under the Agreement, or (ii) adversely affects any Security provided by the Borrower or a third-party to secure the due performance of the Borrower's financial obligations under the Agreement; or (iii) adversely affects any rights or remedies of the CEB under the Agreement.

"Maturity Date" means the last Principal Repayment Date for each Tranche specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

"Modified Following Business Day Convention" means a convention whereby if a specified date would fall on a day which is not a Business Day, such date would be the first following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case that date would be the first preceding day that is a Business Day.

"Prepayment Confirmation" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.7.

"Prepayment Costs" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.7.

"Prepayment Date" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.7.

"Prepayment Notice" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 4.7.

"Principal Repayment Date(s)" means the date(s) for the repayment(s) of principal under each Tranche specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

"Principal Repayment Period" means with respect of each Tranche the period running from its Disbursement Date to its Maturity Date.

"Progress Report" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 6.1 (a).

"Prohibited Practices" has the meaning specified under Sub-clause 5.8 (c).

"Project" means the eligible investment scheme set forth under Appendix 1 hereto to be partially financed with the Loan approved by the CEB's Administrative Council with ref. LD 2144.

"Project Implementing Entity" (hereinafter, the "PIE") means the legal entity that, by delegation of the Borrower, is in charge of the implementation of the Project.

"Project Implementing Unit" (hereinafter, the "PIU") means the team appointed by the PIE in charge of the day-to-day management of the Project.

"Reference Rate" means EURIBOR for a Floating Interest Rate Tranche denominated in Euro.

"Sanction Lists" means (i) any economic, financial and trade restrictive measures and arms embargoes issued by the EU pursuant to chapter 2 of title V of the Treaty on European Union as well as article 215 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as available on the official EU website<sup>1</sup> or on any successor page, as amended and supplemented from time to time; or (ii) any economic, financial and trade restrictive measures and arms embargoes issued by the United Nations Security Council pursuant to article 41 of the UN Charter, as available on the official UN website or on any successor page, as amended and supplemented from time to time.

"Sanctioned Persons" means any individual or entity listed in and/or otherwise subject to one or more Sanction Lists.

"Security" means any agreement or arrangement creating a preferential rank, a preferential right of payment, a collateral or guarantee of any nature whatsoever which might confer enhanced rights upon third parties.

"Spread" means, in connection with Floating Interest Rate Tranches, the fixed-spread to the Reference Rate (being either plus or minus) specified in basis points in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

"Tranche" means an amount disbursed or to be disbursed under the Loan.

## 1.2 Construction

Unless the context otherwise requires, references to:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/8442/consolidated-list-sanctions en.

- (i) this Agreement shall be construed as references to this Agreement as supplemented, amended or restated from time to time;
- (ii) a Party or any other person includes its successors in title or permitted transferee;
- (iii) "Clauses", "Sub-clauses" and "Recitals" shall be construed as references to clauses, sub-clauses and recitals respectively of this Agreement; and
- (iv) words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice-versa.

## 1.3 Headings

Headings in this Agreement have no legal significance and do not affect its interpretation.

### 1.4 Rounding

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in this Agreement:

- (i) all percentages resulting from such calculations other than those determined through the use of interpolation will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (e.g., 9.876541% (or .09876541) being rounded down to 9.87654% (or .0987654) and 9.876545% (or .09876545) being rounded up to 9.87655% (or .0987655));
- (ii) all percentages determined through the use of linear interpolation by reference to two (2) relevant Reference Rates will be rounded, if necessary, in accordance with the method set forth in subsection (a) above, but to the same degree of accuracy as the two (2) rates used to make the determination (except that such percentages will not be rounded to a lower degree of accuracy than the nearest one thousandth of a percentage point (0.001%)); and
- (iii) all currency amounts used in or resulting from the above calculations will be rounded, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Currency definition, to the nearest two decimal places in the relevant currency (with .005 being rounded upwards (e.g., .674 being rounded down to .67 and .675 being rounded up to .68).

## 2. CONDITIONS

The Loan is granted under the general conditions of the Loan Regulations and under the special conditions of the Agreement.

### 3. PURPOSE

ansders.

The CEB grants the Loan to the Borrower, who accepts it, solely for the purpose of financing the Project as described under Appendix 1.

Any change to the way the Loan is applied that has not received the CEB's prior written approval would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the early reimbursement, suspension or cancellation of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

### 4. FINANCIAL CONDITIONS

#### 4.1 Loan Amount

The Loan Amount is:

# Eighty-six million Euros EUR 86,000,000

#### 4.2 Disbursement Amount

The Loan shall be disbursed in a minimum of two (2) Tranches.

The amount of each Tranche shall be determined according to the Incurred Expenditure and/or Forecasted Expenditure. The amount of the first Tranche shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the Loan Amount.

#### 4.3 Disbursement Procedure

The disbursement of each Tranche is determined through the following procedure:

(a) Disbursement Request

Prior to each disbursement, the Borrower shall submit to the CEB a disbursement request substantially in the form set out under Appendix 3 hereto (hereinafter, a "Disbursement Request").

A Disbursement Request shall specify the proposed:

- (i) Currency and amount for the Tranche;
- (ii) Disbursement Date; such Disbursement Date shall be a Business Day falling at least five (5) Business Days after the date of the Disbursement Request;
- (iii) Principal Repayment Date(s), including the Maturity Date, taking into account that the Principal Repayment Period for each Tranche shall not exceed twenty (20) years including a grace period not greater than five (5) years for amortising structures;
- (iv) maximum Fixed Interest Rate or maximum Spread to the Reference Rate;
- (v) Interest Period and Interest Payment Dates;
- (vi) Day Count Convention and Business Days; and
- (vii) Borrower's account for payments.

Each Disbursement Request delivered to the CEB shall be irrevocable, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the CEB.

(b) Disbursement Notice

If the CEB receives a Disbursement Request that complies with the Disbursement Request requirements set out in Sub-clause 4.3 (a) above, and if all other relevant Disbursement Conditions as defined in Sub-clause 4.5 (Disbursement Conditions) below have been fulfilled by the Borrower, the CEB shall deliver to the Borrower a disbursement notice substantially in the form set out under Appendix 3 hereto (hereinafter, a "Disbursement Notice"). Each Disbursement Notice shall be delivered at least two (2) Business Days before the proposed Disbursement Date.

A Disbursement Notice shall specify:

- (i) the Currency and the amount for the Tranche;
- (ii) the Disbursement Date;
- (iii) the Principal Repayment Period and the Principal Repayment Date, including the Maturity Date;

- (iv) the Fixed Interest Rate or the Spread to the Reference Rate;
- (v) the Interest Period and the Interest Payment Dates;
- (vi) the Day Count Convention and the Business Days; and
- (vii) the Borrower's and the CEB's accounts for payments.

A Disbursement Notice matching the elements included in a Disbursement Request shall constitute an irrevocable and unconditional commitment on the part of the Borrower to borrow from the CEB and on the part of the CEB to disburse to the Borrower the Tranche under the terms and conditions specified in the Disbursement Notice.

Notwithstanding the above, if the CEB has not delivered a Disbursement Notice within twenty (20) Business Days following the receipt of a Disbursement Request, the relevant Disbursement Request shall be deemed as cancelled.

#### 4.4 Disbursement Period

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the CEB, the Borrower shall not be entitled to:

- (i) the issue of a Disbursement Request for the first Tranche beyond twelve (12) months after the Effective Date;
- (ii) the issue of any further Disbursement Request beyond eighteen (18) months after the last disbursement; or
- (iii) the issue of any further Disbursement Request beyond the day falling fifteen (15) Business Days before the Closing Date.

## 4.5 Disbursement Conditions

- (a) Conditions precedent to the Disbursement Request for the first Tranche:
  - (i) Legal opinion in English issued by the Borrower's Ministry of Justice confirming to the CEB's satisfaction, substantially in the form set out under Appendix 2 hereto, that the Agreement has been duly executed by authorised representatives of the Borrower and that the Agreement is valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms in the Borrower's jurisdiction.
  - (ii) Evidence in English (e.g., statute, resolution, power of attorney, etc.) to the CEB's satisfaction of the person(s) authorised to execute the Agreement and the Disbursement Requests on behalf of the Borrower, together with the authenticated specimen of the signature(s) of such person(s).
  - (iii) The other conditions as set out under the "Special Conditions" section of Appendix 1 hereto.
- (b) Conditions precedent to any further Disbursement Request:
  - (i) In the event there has been a change regarding the person(s) authorised to execute Disbursement Requests on behalf of the Borrower, the Borrower shall provide CEB with updated evidence in English (e.g., Statute, Resolution, Power of Attorney, etc.) to the CEB's satisfaction of the person(s) authorised to execute the Disbursement Requests on behalf of the Borrower, together with the authenticated specimen of the signature(s) of such person(s).
  - (ii) Progress Report confirming to the CEB's satisfaction the full Allocation of the previous Tranche.
  - (iii) The other conditions as set out under the "Special Conditions" section of Appendix 1 hereto.

### 4.6 Repayment

On any Principal Repayment Date, the Borrower shall repay the principal of each Tranche due on that Principal Repayment Date in accordance with the terms set forth in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

## 4.7 Prepayment

### (a) Mechanics

If in any event specified in this Agreement referring to this Sub-clause the Borrower ought to prepay all or part of a Tranche or in the event of voluntary prepayment, the Borrower shall give at least a one (1) month prior written notice to the CEB (hereinafter, the "Prepayment Notice") specifying the amounts to be prepaid, the date on which the prepayment will take place (hereinafter, the "Prepayment Date") and, upon prior consultation with the CEB, the Prepayment Costs. The Prepayment Date shall fall on an Interest Payment Date, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the CEB.

Upon receipt of the Prepayment Notice, the CEB shall send a written notice to the Borrower (hereinafter, the "Prepayment Confirmation"), not later than five (5) Business Days prior to the Prepayment Date, indicating the accrued interest due thereon and the Prepayment Costs in accordance with Sub-clause 4.7 (b).

A Prepayment Confirmation matching all the elements included in the Prepayment Notice shall constitute an irrevocable and unconditional commitment on the part of the Borrower to prepay the relevant amounts to the CEB under the terms and conditions specified in the Prepayment Confirmation.

If the Borrower partially prepays a Tranche, the prepaid amount shall be applied pro rata to each outstanding principal repayment. In such an event, the Prepayment Confirmation shall accordingly include an adjusted repayment schedule which shall be binding on the Borrower.

## (b) Prepayment Costs

The costs resulting from prepayment in accordance with Sub-clause 4.7 (a) (hereinafter, the "Prepayment Costs") shall be determined by the CEB on the basis of the costs to it of redeploying the amount to be prepaid from the Prepayment Date to the Maturity Date, including any related costs, such as unwinding any underlying hedging arrangements. The costs of redeployment will be established on the basis of the difference between the original rate and the redeployment rate, which shall be determined by the CEB on the basis of market conditions on the date of the Prepayment Notice.

#### 4.8 Interest Determination

The Borrower shall pay interest on the principal of each Tranche from time to time outstanding during each Interest Period at the Fixed Interest Rate/Floating Interest Rate specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice.

Interest shall (i) accrue from and including the first day of the Interest Period to but excluding the last day of such Interest Period; and (ii) be due and payable on the Interest Payment Dates specified in the applicable Disbursement Notice. Interest shall be calculated on the basis of the Day Count Convention specified in the relevant Disbursement Notice.

In the case of Floating Interest Rate Tranches, the CEB shall determine on each Interest Determination Date the interest rate applicable during the relevant Interest Period in accordance with the Agreement and promptly give notice thereof to the Borrower. Each determination by the CEB shall be final, conclusive and binding upon the Borrower unless shown by the Borrower to the satisfaction of the CEB that any such determination has involved manifest error.

### 4.9 Default Interest Rate

In the event that the Borrower fails to pay, in full or in part, any amount under the Agreement, and notwithstanding any other recourse available to the CEB under the Agreement or otherwise, the Borrower shall

pay interest on such unpaid amounts from the due date until the date of receipt of such payment by the CEB at the interest rate *per annum* equal to the one-month EURIBOR quoted on the due date plus two hundred basis points (200 bps) (hereinafter, the "Default Interest Rate").

The applicable Default Interest Rate shall be updated every thirty (30) calendar days.

## 4.10 Market Disruption Event

The CEB shall promptly, upon becoming aware of it, notify to the Borrower that a Market Disruption Event has occurred.

For the purposes of the Agreement, "Market Disruption Event" refers to the following circumstances:

(a) The relevant financial news provider referred to under the EURIBOR definition does not quote any percentage rate or its corresponding screen rate page is not accessible.

Under such a Market Disruption Event, the applicable EURIBOR shall be the percentage rate *per annum* determined by the CEB to be the arithmetic mean of the rates at which loans in Euro, in an amount identical or nearest comparable to the Loan amount in question and for a period identical or nearest comparable to the relative Interest Period, are offered on the Interest Determination Date by three (3) leading banks in the EU interbank market selected by the CEB. If at least two (2) quotations are provided, the applicable EURIBOR for that Interest Determination Date shall be the arithmetic mean of all quotations provided.

If only one (1) or no quotation is provided, the applicable EURIBOR shall be the percentage rate *per annum* determined by the CEB to be the arithmetic mean of the rates at which loans in Euro, in an amount identical or nearest comparable to the Loan amount in question and for a period identical or nearest comparable to the relative Interest Period, are offered on the second Business Day after the beginning of the relevant Interest Period by major banks in the EU interbank market selected by the CEB.

(b) The CEB determines that it is not possible to determine the applicable Reference Rate in accordance with paragraph (a) above.

Under such a Market Disruption Event, the applicable Floating Interest Rate shall be replaced by the rate that expresses as a percentage rate *per annum* the cost to the CEB of funding the Loan from whatever source the CEB may reasonably select.

(c) At any time between the delivery of a Disbursement Notice and the Disbursement Date the CEB reasonably determines that there are exceptional and unexpected circumstances of an economic, financial, political or other external nature adversely affecting the CEB's access to its sources of funding.

Under such a Market Disruption Event, the CEB shall be entitled to cancel at no cost the scheduled disbursement

In the case of the Market Disruption Events set forth under paragraphs (a) and (b) above (other than an EURIBOR Replacement Event):

- (i) If the Borrower so requires, the Parties, acting in good faith, shall enter into negotiations for a period of not more than thirty (30) calendar days in order to agree on an alternative to the applicable EURIBOR. If no agreement is reached, the Borrower shall proceed with prepayment on the next Interest Payment Date in the terms provided under Sub-clause 4.7.
- (ii) The CEB shall have the right, acting in good faith and in consultation with the Borrower to the extent reasonably practicable, to change the duration of any subsequent Interest Period to thirty (30) calendar days or less by sending to the Borrower a notice thereof. Any such change to an Interest Period shall take effect on the date specified by the CEB in such notice.

If the CEB determines that the relevant Market Disruption Event no longer exists, then, subject to any further Market Disruption Event occurring or existing, the Floating Interest Rate and/or Interest Period applicable to any relevant Tranche shall revert, from the first day of the following Interest Period to being calculated in accordance with the Floating Interest Rate and Interest Period specified in the relevant Disbursement Notice.

### 4.11 Payments

All the amounts due by the Borrower under this Agreement are payable in the Currency of each Tranche to the CEB's account indicated in the applicable Disbursement Notice. Any payment under this Agreement shall be made on a Business Day subject to the Modified Following Business Day Convention. Any payment shall be deemed paid when the CEB has received the amount on its account.

The Borrower or the bank instructed by the Borrower, as the case may be, shall send a written payment notice to the CEB at least five (5) Business Days before payment of any amounts due under this Agreement.

All payments to be made by the Borrower under this Agreement shall be calculated and be made without (and free and clear of any deduction for) set-off or counterclaim.

If the CEB receives a payment that is insufficient to discharge all the amounts then due and payable by the Borrower under this Agreement, the CEB shall apply that payment in or towards payment of:

- (i) first, any fees, costs, charges or expenses due but unpaid under this Agreement;
- (ii) secondly, any accrued interest due but unpaid under this Agreement,
- (iii) thirdly, any principal due but unpaid under this Agreement; and
- (iv) fourthly, any other sum due but unpaid under this Agreement.

# 5. PROJECT IMPLEMENTATION

The Borrower shall implement the Project in accordance with the Agreement.

The Borrower designates the Ministry of Health as the PIE. The Borrower shall ensure that the PIE appoints a PIU appropriately staffed and equipped throughout the Project implementation period. In particular, the PIU shall comply with the minimum requirements set forth under Appendix 1 hereto.

In any event, the Borrower remains solely liable to comply with its obligations under the Agreement.

Failure to comply with the undertakings set forth hereby under Clause 5 would constitute, irrespective of any other applicable provision of the Loan Regulations, an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to (i) the relevant contract expenditure declared ineligible for Allocation under the Project; and/or (ii) the early reimbursement, suspension or cancellation of the Loan, in whole or in part, under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

## 5.1 Duty of Care

The Borrower shall apply all care and diligence, and shall exercise all typically used means (including, but not limited to, legal, financial, managerial and technical) required for the proper implementation of the Project.

### 5.2 Allocation Period

The Borrower shall allocate each Tranche to the Project within twelve (12) months after the relevant Disbursement Date (hereinafter, the "Allocation Period"), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the CEB.

If a Tranche disbursed by the CEB is not allocated to the Project or is only partially allocated to it within the Allocation Period, the Borrower shall proceed with prepayment of the unallocated amounts on the next Interest Payment Date in the terms provided under Sub-clause 4.7.

## 5.3 Project Costs

The Tranches disbursed under the Loan shall not exceed ninety per cent (90%) of the total eligible costs of the Project specified under Appendix 1 hereto. If the Tranches disbursed under the Loan exceed 90% (by reduction of the total eligible costs or otherwise), the Borrower shall proceed with prepayment of the surplus on the next Interest Payment Date in the terms provided under Sub-clause 4.7.

Should the total eligible costs of the Project increase or be revised for whatever reason, the Borrower shall ensure that the additional financial resources for the completion of the Project are available without recourse to the CEB. The plans to finance the increased costs shall be communicated to the CEB without delay.

## 5.4 Project Specific Undertakings

The Borrower shall ensure that:

- (i) all the land, real property rights and permits required for the implementation of the Project are timely available;
- (ii) all assets and plants under the Project are permanently insured, maintained and operated in accordance with international best practices; and
- (iii) any other requirement specified in Appendix 1 ("Specific Conditions") hereto is complied with.

#### 5.5 Procurement

The Borrower shall conduct all procurement procedures under the Project in accordance with the public procurement laws of the Republic of Moldova. In particular, the Borrower shall ensure that any party having an interest in obtaining a particular contract to be financed under the Project shall have access to the review procedures and remedies provided for under the laws of the Republic of Moldova.

To be eligible for financing under the Loan, procurement of works, services and goods carried out in accordance with the paragraph above, shall be in line with the Procurement Guidelines. In particular, the Procurement Plan (as such term is defined under the Procurement Guidelines) and any update thereof, indicating the procurement methods for each contract shall be submitted to the CEB for approval. Upon receipt, the CEB will inform the Borrower of the scope of review that CEB will carry out for each contract.

## 5.6 Environmental and Social Safeguards

Without prejudice to the obligations provided for in the <u>'Undertakings'</u> paragraph of the "Special Conditions" section of Appendix 1 hereto, which the Borrower undertakes to comply with in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof, the Borrower shall implement the Project in conformity with the requirements set forth in the Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy. An Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) shall be undertaken in accordance with the Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy.

#### 5.7 Human Rights

The Borrower shall ensure that the implementation of the Project does not give rise to a violation of (i) the European Convention on Human Rights; or (ii) the European Social Charter.

## 5.8 Integrity

The Borrower undertakes that:

- (a) It will institute and thereafter comply with internal policies, procedures and controls, in line with applicable legislation and international best practices, for the purpose of preventing the Borrower to become, in connection with the implementation of the Project or otherwise, an instrument for money laundering or terrorism financing;
- (b) it will not make any Loan proceeds available to or for the benefit of, directly or indirectly, any Sanctioned Person;
- (c) it will not commit, and no person, with its consent or prior knowledge, will commit, in connection with the implementation of the Project or any Sub-project a Corrupt Practice, a Fraudulent Practice, a Coercive Practice, a Collusive Practice or an Obstructive Practice (hereinafter, together with money laundering, terrorism financing and making available any Loan proceeds to Sanctioned Persons referred to as the "Prohibited Practices").

For the purposes of this Agreement:

- (i) A "Corrupt Practice" means any act of offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting, directly or indirectly, anything of value to influence improperly the actions of another party.
- (ii) A "Fraudulent Practice" means any act or omission, including a misrepresentation, that knowingly or recklessly misleads, or attempts to mislead, a party to obtain a financial or other benefit, or to avoid an obligation.
- (iii) A "Coercive Practice" means any act of impairing or harming, or threatening to impair or harm, directly or indirectly, any party or the property of any party to influence improperly the actions of a party.
- (iv) A "Collusive Practice" means any arrangement between two or more parties designed to achieve an improper purpose, including influencing improperly the actions of another party.
- (v) An "Obstructive Practice" means, in relation to an investigation into a Coercive, Collusive, Corrupt or Fraudulent Practice, (a) any act of deliberately destroying, falsifying, altering or concealing of evidence material to the investigation; (b) any act of threatening, harassing or intimidating any party to prevent it from disclosing its knowledge of matters relevant to the investigation or from pursuing the investigation; and/or (c) any act intending to materially impede the exercise of the contractual rights of audit or access to information.

The Borrower undertakes to inform the CEB if it should become aware of any fact or information suggestive of the commission of any such Prohibited Practice. For this purpose, the knowledge of any member of the PIU shall be deemed the knowledge of the Borrower.

The Borrower undertakes:

- (i) to take timely such action as the CEB may reasonably request to investigate and/or terminate any alleged or actual Prohibited Practice;
- (ii) to facilitate any investigation that the CEB may conduct concerning any alleged or actual Prohibited Practice; and
- (iii) to inform the CEB of the measures taken to seek damages from the persons responsible for any loss resulting from any such Prohibited Practice.

The Head of the PIE shall be responsible for contacts with the CEB for the purposes of this Sub-clause.

#### 5.9 Visibility

The Borrower shall inform the Final Beneficiaries that the Project is partly financed by the CEB through appropriate means of communication such as dedicated notices in relevant websites, social media, press releases,

brochures or the exhibit of billboards/plates on relevant Project sites/facilities. In any case, information to the Final Beneficiaries shall display in an appropriate way the CEB's name and logo.

#### 6. MONITORING

### 6.1 Reporting

### (a) Progress Reports

The Borrower, through the PIU, shall send to the CEB a progress report (hereinafter, a "Progress Report") (i) once a year, until the completion of the Project; and (ii) prior to every Disbursement Request, except for the Disbursement Request for the first Tranche.

Appendix 4 hereto provides a template specifying the minimum information required by the CEB. Alternative formats containing the same information may also be used.

## (b) Completion Report

Upon completion of the Project, the Borrower shall submit a completion report (hereinafter, a "Completion Report") in form and substance identical to the Progress Report.

Appendix 4 hereto provides a template specifying the minimum information required by the CEB. Alternative formats containing the same information may also be used.

#### 6.2 Visits

The Borrower undertakes to favourably receive any monitoring/technical/evaluation visits, including by facilitating access to relevant Project sites/contractors, carried out by the CEB's staff members or designated third parties.

#### 6.3 Audit

Should the Borrower fail to comply with any of its undertakings under the Agreement, the Borrower undertakes to favourably receive any on-site audit, carried out by the CEB's staff members or designated third parties, which shall be at the Borrower's expense.

## 6.4 Project Information

The Borrower shall keep accounting records concerning the Project, which shall be in conformity with international standards, showing, at any point in time, the Project's state of progress, and which shall record all operations made and identify the assets and services partially financed with the Loan.

The Borrower shall deliver to the CEB in a timely manner any information or document concerning the financing or the implementation (including in particular environmental/social and procurement issues) of the Project as the CEB may reasonably require.

The Borrower shall inform the CEB immediately of any event affecting the implementation of the Project, including but not limited to:

- (i) any action or protest initiated or any objection raised by any third party or any complaint received by the Borrower or any litigation that is commenced or threatened against it with regard to procurement or environmental/social or other matters in connection with the Project; or
- (ii) any enactment of or any amendment to any law, rule or regulation (or in the application or official interpretation of any law, rule or regulation) in connection with the Project.

Any event that may have a material adverse impact on the implementation of the Project would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the early reimbursement, suspension or cancellation of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

#### 6.5 Borrower Information

The Borrower shall deliver information, in a form and substance satisfactory to the CEB, on its general financial situation as the CEB may reasonably require from time to time.

The Borrower shall inform the CEB of any Material Adverse Change immediately after becoming aware thereof. Any Material Adverse Change would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the early reimbursement, suspension or cancellation of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

#### 6.6 Financial Covenants

### (a) Cross-Default

The Borrower shall inform the CEB if any Cross-Default Event occurs. Any Cross-Default Event would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the suspension, cancellation or early reimbursement of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

For the purpose of this Agreement, "Cross-Default Event" means a situation in which, following any default in relation thereto, the Borrower is required or is capable of being required or will, following expiry of any applicable contractual grace period, be required or be capable of being required to prepay, repay or terminate ahead of maturity any Debt Instrument or any commitment in connection with any Debt Instrument is cancelled or suspended.

#### 7. PARI PASSU

Failure to comply with the provisions set forth below under Clause 7 would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the early reimbursement, suspension or cancellation of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

### 7.1 Ranking

The Borrower shall ensure that its payment obligations under this Agreement rank, and will rank, not less than pari passu in right of payment with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations under any of its Debt Instruments.

In particular, the Borrower shall not make (or authorise) any payment in respect of any other such Debt Instrument (whether regularly scheduled or otherwise) if:

- (i) the CEB makes a demand of early reimbursement under Article 3.3 of the Loan Regulations; or
- (ii) an event or potential event of default under any unsecured and unsubordinated Debt Instrument of the Borrower or any of its agencies or instrumentalities has occurred and is continuing.

However, payment in respect of such Debt Instrument is possible if the Borrower:

(i) simultaneously pays; or

(ii) sets aside in a designated account for payment on the next Interest Payment Date

a sum equal to the same proportion of the principal outstanding under this Agreement as the proportion that the payment under such Debt Instrument bears to the total debt outstanding under that instrument.

For this purpose, any payment of a Debt Instrument that is made out of the proceeds of the issue of another instrument, to which substantially the same persons as hold claims under the Debt Instrument have subscribed, shall be disregarded.

### 7.2 Security

Should a Security be granted for the performance of any of the Borrower's Debt Instruments, the Borrower shall timely inform the CEB of its intentions and shall, if so required by the CEB, provide to the CEB, within the deadline set forth in the CEB's notice, identical or equivalent Security for the performance of its financial obligations under this Agreement.

This provision shall not apply to a Security:

- (a) created on property at the time of purchase solely as security for the payment of the purchase price or for the payment of debt incurred for the purpose of financing the purchase of such property; or
- (b) securing a Debt Instrument maturing not more than one (1) year after the date on which it was originally incurred.

#### 7.3 Clause by Inclusion

Should any of the Borrower's Debt Instruments include a loss-of-rating covenant, a financial ratios covenant or pari passu provisions that are not included in the Agreement or that are stricter than any equivalent provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall so inform the CEB and shall, at the request of the CEB by means of a written notice, execute within the deadline indicated in the CEB's notice, an amendment to this Agreement to provide an equivalent provision in favour of the CEB.

## 7.4 Prepayment to Third Parties

Should the Borrower voluntarily prepay (for the avoidance of doubt, prepayment shall include a repurchase where applicable) in whole or in part any Debt Instrument and such prepayment:

- (i) is not made within a revolving credit facility which remains open for drawing on the same terms after such prepayment; or
- (ii) is not made out of the proceeds of another Debt Instrument having a term at least equal to the unexpired term of the prepaid Debt Instrument,

the Borrower shall inform the CEB. In such an event, and upon the CEB's request, the Borrower shall prepay to the CEB within two (2) months from any such prepayment the amounts disbursed under the Loan in accordance with Sub-clause 4.7 in such proportion as the prepaid amount bears to the corresponding Debt Instrument.

#### 8. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower represents and warrants that:

 (a) it carries out its activities according to the laws, decrees, regulations and other texts applicable to it; in particular, it complies with the applicable laws on fraud, corruption, money laundering and financing of terrorism;

- (b) it is not and none of its officers, directors, agent or employees is a Sanctioned Person or is the subject of a final and irrevocable court ruling in connection with Prohibited Practices perpetrated in the exercise of its professional duties and none of them did or does enter into business relationships with Sanctioned Persons;
- (c) its competent bodies have authorised it to enter into the Agreement and have given the signatory(ies) the authorisation therefor, in accordance with the laws, decrees, regulations, articles of association and other texts applicable to it;
- (d) the execution and delivery of, the performance of its obligations under and compliance with the provisions of this Agreement do not:
  - (i) contravene or conflict with any applicable law, statute, rule or regulation, or any judgment, decree or permit to which it is subject;
  - (ii) contravene or conflict with any Debt Instrument or any other agreement binding upon it which might reasonably be expected to give rise to a Material Adverse Change;
- (e) no event or circumstance is outstanding that constitutes a default under any Debt Instrument or any other agreement, which is binding on it or to which its assets are subject, which might reasonably be expected to give rise to a Material Adverse Change;
- (f) no Security has been granted to a third party in breach of Sub-clause 7.2;
- (g) no litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings of or before any court, arbitral tribunal or agency which might reasonably be expected to give rise to a Material Adverse Change have (to the best of its knowledge and belief) been started or threatened against it; and
- (h) it has received a copy of the Loan Regulations, the Loan Policy, the Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy, the Procurement Guidelines and the Personal Data Protection Regulation and has taken note thereof.

The above representations and warranties are deemed repeated on the date of signature of each Disbursement Request. Any change in relation to the above representations and warranties must, for the entire Loan period, be notified and any supporting documents provided to the CEB immediately after the Borrower having become aware of the change.

If any of the above representations and warranties is or proves to have been incorrect or misleading in any respect, this would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the suspension, cancellation or early reimbursement of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (Early reimbursement of disbursed loans), 3.5 (Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans) and 3.6 (Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans) of the Loan Regulations.

#### 9. THIRD PARTIES

The Borrower may not raise any fact relating, within the scope of the use of the Loan, to its relations with third parties in order to avoid fulfilling, either totally or partially, the obligations resulting from the Agreement.

The CEB may not be involved in disputes which might arise between the Borrower and third parties and the costs, whatever their nature, incurred by the CEB due to any claims, and in particular all legal or court costs, shall be at the expense of the Borrower.

#### 10. NON-WAIVER

In no case, including delay or partial exercise, shall it be presumed that the CEB has tacitly waived any right granted to it by the Agreement.

#### 11. TRANSFER

The Borrower may not transfer any of its rights and/or obligations under the Agreement without the prior written consent of the CEB.

The Borrower hereby gives its consent to any transfer by the CEB of all or part of its rights and/or obligations under the Agreement.

#### 12. ILLEGALITY

If it is or becomes unlawful in any jurisdiction for the CEB to make, maintain or fund the Loan or perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, this would constitute an event in the terms of Article 3.3 (h) of the Loan Regulations and may give rise to the suspension, cancellation or early reimbursement of the Loan under the terms of Articles 3.3 (*Early reimbursement of disbursed loans*), 3.5 (*Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans*) and 3.6 (*Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans*) of the Loan Regulations.

#### 13. NO HARDSHIP

Each Party hereby acknowledges that any applicable provision pursuant to which a Party may request the other Party to renegotiate the Agreement or may cease to perform its obligations hereunder, in case of a change of circumstances unforeseeable at the time of the conclusion of the Agreement which makes performance excessively onerous for a Party who had not agreed to assume such risk, shall not apply to it with respect to its obligations under the Agreement and that it shall not be entitled to many any claim under such provision.

#### 14. GOVERNING LAW

The Agreement shall be governed by the rules of the CEB as specified in the provisions of Article 1, paragraph 3, of the Third Protocol (dated 6 March 1959) to the General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe (dated 2 September 1949) and, secondarily, if necessary, by French law.

#### 15. DISPUTES

Disputes between the Parties shall be subject to arbitration under the conditions laid down in chapter 4 of the Loan Regulations.

The Parties agree not to take advantage of any privilege, immunity or legislation before any jurisdictional or other authority, whether domestic or international, in order to object to the enforcement of an award handed down under the conditions laid down in chapter 4 of the Loan Regulations.

In any legal action arising from this Agreement, the CEB's certificate as to any amount due or interest rate applicable under the Agreement shall, in the absence of manifest error, be *prima facie* evidence of such amount or interest rate.

### 16. DATA PROTECTION

The processing of any personal data collected under the Agreement shall be carried out by the CEB in accordance with the Data Protection Regulation.

#### 17. NOTICES

Any notice (including any document or communication) to be given or made under or in connection with this Agreement to the CEB or the Borrower shall be in writing and unless otherwise stated, may be made by registered letter, electronic mail or facsimile. Such notice shall be deemed to have been received by the other Party:

- (i) in the case of a hand-delivered or registered letter, on the date of delivery;
- (ii) in the case of electronic mail, only when actually received in readable form and only if it is addressed in such a manner as the other Party shall specify for this purpose;
- (iii) in the case of electronic mail, which contains a Disbursement Notice, sent by the CEB to the Borrower, when the electronic mail is sent; and
- (iv) in the case of a facsimile, on receipt of transmission.

Any notice provided by the Borrower to the CEB by electronic mail shall:

- (i) mention the LD reference in the subject line; and
- (ii) be in the form of a non-editable electronic image (pdf, tif or any other common non editable file format agreed between the Parties) of the notice signed by the person or persons duly authorised to sign such notice on behalf of the Borrower, attached to the electronic mail.

Without affecting the validity of notices by electronic mail or facsimile made in accordance with this Clause, the following notices shall also be sent by registered letter to the other Party at the latest on the immediately following Business Day:

- (i) Disbursement Requests;
- (ii) any communications in respect of the suspension, cancellation and/or early reimbursement of the Loan or in respect of a Prepayment Notice; and
- (iii) any other communication required by the CEB.

The Parties agree that any above notice (including via electronic mail) is an accepted form of communication, shall constitute admissible evidence in court and shall have the same evidential value as an agreement under hand.

The postal address, fax number and electronic mail address (and the department or officer, if any, for whose attention the communication is to be made) of each Party for any communication to be given or made under or in connection with this Agreement is:

#### For the Borrower:

Ministry of Health
2, Vasile Alecsandri Street
MD 2009, Chisinau
Republic of Moldova

Attention:

Minister of Health

E-mail:

secretariat@ms.gov.md

Ministry of Finance
7, Constantin Tanase Street
MD 2005, Chisinau
Republic of Moldova

Attention:

Minister of Finance

Fax: +373 22 262517

E-mail:

cancelaria@mf.gov.md

## For the CEB:

Council of Europe Development Bank 55 Avenue Kléber 75116 Paris France

Attention:

Head of Projects Division

Fax:

+33 1 47 55 37 52

E-mail:

projects@coebank.org

The CEB and the Borrower shall promptly notify the other Party in writing of any change in their respective communication details.

All notices to be given or made under or in connection with the Agreement shall be in English or French or, if in another language, shall be accompanied by an English or French certified translation thereof, when so required by the CEB.

All notices to be given or made by the Borrower under or in connection with this Agreement shall, where required by the CEB, be delivered to the CEB together with satisfactory evidence of the authority of the person or persons authorised to sign such notice on behalf of the Borrower and the authenticated specimen signature of such person or persons.

#### 18. TAXES AND EXPENSES

The Borrower shall pay, to the extent applicable, all taxes, duties, fees and other impositions of whatsoever nature, including stamp duty and registration fees, arising out of the execution, registration, implementation, termination or enforcement of the Agreement and/or any related document as well as of the creation, perfection, registration, enforcement or release of any Security required under the Agreement.

The Borrower shall bear all charges and expenses (including legal, professional, banking or exchange costs) incurred in connection with (i) the preparation, execution, perfection, implementation, termination and enforcement of this Agreement and/or any related document; (ii) any amendment, supplement or waiver in respect of this Agreement and/or any related document; and (iii) the preparation, execution, perfection, management, enforcement and release of any Security required under the Agreement.

Notwithstanding the above, Article 4.7 (Cost of arbitration) of the Loan Regulations shall apply regarding the costs of the arbitration set forth under Clause 15.

#### 19. DISCHARGE

After repayment of all outstanding principal under the Loan as well as payment of all interests and other expenses resulting from the Agreement, including in particular those amounts under Sub-clause 4.9 and Clause 18, the Borrower shall be fully released from its obligations arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.

Without prejudice of the above, the Borrower shall nevertheless undertake, for a period not exceeding six (6) years following the receipt of a Completion Report to the CEB's satisfaction (i) to keep the Project-related documentation; and (ii) to favourably receive any evaluation visits, including by facilitating access to relevant Project sites carried out by the CEB's staff members or designated third parties.

## 20. ENTRY INTO FORCE

Once duly executed by the Parties hereto, the Agreement shall enter into force on the date on which the CEB receives a notification confirming the completion by the Republic of Moldova of the internal procedures necessary for its entry into force.

IN WITNESS THEREOF the Parties have caused the Agreement to be executed in two (2) originals, each of which is equally valid. One (1) original is kept by each of the Parties.

16 October 2023

For the Borrower

Chisinau, on

Ala Nemerenco

Minister of Health

For the CEB

13 OCTOBER 2023 Paris, on

Name:

Title:

Namer LOVATO L&D, Head of Projects Diviction

Name:

Title:

Andrea BUCCOMINO **Deputy General Counsel** 

# **APPENDIX 1**

# **Project Description**

LD	2144 (2023)
Borrower	Republic of Moldova
Loan Type	Project Loan
Loan Amount	EUR 86,000,000
Approval by CEB's Administrative Council	27 January 2023

	"Health and social care"							
Objective	To support the Government of the Republic of Moldova in providing better and more accessible public tertiary healthcare to the population, specifically in the North region of Moldova.							
Planned Works	The Project foresees th	e cons	tructi	on of a new greenfie	eld reg	iona		
Turned Trong	tertiary hospital in Balti				Charles and the second			
	a total of 340 inpatie							
	a broader programme					care		
	from Centre to the Nor	th and	South	n regions of Moldova	١,			
Project Management	The Ministry of Heal responsibility for the Pr			에 있습니다. [1] 이 경기 시간 이 전체 가장의 경기 등에 가장 전 가장의 회기	ave ov	/eral		
	A PIU with expertise in construction projects shall be established under the MoH, and shall be responsible for the implementation of the Project, including a Project Manager, a Financial officer, a Procurement officer, an Engineer, and wherever needed — additional temporary expertise.  MoH undertakes to provide office space, working stations and transport facilities for field visits.							
		A Steering Committee led by the MoH, including representatives						
	of MoH and MoF would be established, with responsibility for the							
	overall coordination, monitoring and evaluation of project							
	activities.							
	activities.							
Location	Balti Municipality, Repu	ıblic of	Molo	dova				
	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the N that will have access to as hospital staff ar	North r moder id me	egior n tert edicin	n, estimated at arour tiary healthcare servi e students benefi	ces; as	wel		
Final Beneficiaries	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Nathat will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and	North r moder id me	egior n tert edicin	n, estimated at arour tiary healthcare servi e students benefi	ces; as	wel		
Final Beneficiaries Project Total Cost	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Natheria will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000	North r moder nd me d study	egior n tert dicin cond	n, estimated at arour tiary healthcare servi e students benefi litions.	ces; as	from		
Final Beneficiaries  Project Total Cost Estimated Cost	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Natheria will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000	North r moder nd me d study	egior n tert edicin cond	n, estimated at arour tiary healthcare servi e students benefi litions. Costs by Source	ces; as	wel from		
Location Final Beneficiaries  Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Natheria will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000	North r moder ad me d study	egior n tert edicin cond	n, estimated at aroun tiary healthcare servi e students benefi litions.  Costs by Source CEB Loan	ces; as	wel from %		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Natheria will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000	North r moder nd me d study	egior n tert edicin cond	n, estimated at arountiary healthcare servi e students benefilitions.  Costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant	ces; as	wel from %		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Natheria will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000	North r moder ad me d study	egior n tert edicin cond	costs by Source CEB Loan COVERNIA CONTRIBUTION COVERNIA CONTRIBUTION COVERNIA CONTRIBUTION CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution	ces; as	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Mathematical that will have access to as hospital staff and advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim.	MEUR 3.00	egior n terf edicin cond % 2.8 0.1	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repu The population of the Natheria will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000 Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B	MEUR 3.00 0.10	egion n tert edicin cond % 2.8 0.1	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repute The population of the Natural that will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design	MEUR 3.00 0.10	egior n tertedicin cond % 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repute The population of the Natural that will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25	egion n tertedicin cond % 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4 38.4	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repute The population of the Nature that will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works Equipment	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25 40.75	% 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4 38.4 37.9	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Repute The population of the Nature access to as hospital staff and advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works Equipment EE solution	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25 40.75 6.00	% 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4 38.4 37.9 5.6	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Final Beneficiaries  Project Total Cost Estimated Cost	Balti Municipality, Reput The population of the Nature that will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works Equipment EE solution Design Verification	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25 40.75 6.00 0.05	% 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4 33.4 37.9 5.6 0.0	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Reput The population of the Nathart will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works Equipment EE solution Design Verification Utilities Connections Design Supervision Construction Supervision	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25 40.75 6.00 0.05 3.00	% 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4 33.4 37.9 5.6 0.0 2.8	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Reput The population of the Nature access to as hospital staff and advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works Equipment EE solution Design Verification Utilities Connections Design Supervision	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25 40.75 6.00 0.05 3.00	% 2.8 0.1 0.7 1.4 37.9 5.6 0.0 2.8 0.5	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		
Project Total Cost Estimated Cost Breakdown and	Balti Municipality, Reput The population of the Nathart will have access to as hospital staff an advantageous work and EUR 108,000,000  Costs by Use Land Energy Efficiency Studies Architectural concept, Prelim. Design, Proc. Docs for D&B Detailed Design Construction Works Equipment EE solution Design Verification Utilities Connections Design Supervision Construction Supervision	MEUR 3.00 0.10 0.80 1.55 41.25 40.75 6.00 0.05 3.00 0.5 2.0	96 cond 96 cond 98 con	costs by Source CEB Loan CEB SDA Grant Government Contribution (financial and in-kind)	MEUR 86.0 0.5	% 79.6 0.5		

Closing Date	31 December 2028
Eligibility Criteria	The CEB finances projects concerning health and social care at related infrastructure in order to foster healthy lives and well-bei by ensuring access to high-quality, affordable healthcare for a To be eligible to the CEB financing, private establishments at infrastructure must be approved by the public health authoriti and in compliance with the criteria established for this ty of establishment.  The CEB can finance projects concerning health, social care at related infrastructure or services such as:  1. Construction and/or rehabilitation of:  1.1. public or private hospitals;  1.2. public or private medical service infrastructure;  1.3. specialised centres dedicated to assisting vulnerable at dependent populations;  1.4. nursing homes for the elderly and welfare centres, includit housing for elderly people who are still independent;  1.5. health-related research and development facilities.  2. Supply and installation of medical or non-medical equipment at furniture;  3. Adaptation of such premises to facilitate access for persons wireduced mobility;  4. Acquisition of health management, related material and equipment; this may involve outright purchase, leasing or other forms of long-term hire of such equipment;  5. Home-based care and support services;  6. Health-related research and development programmes;  7. Training of medical and sociomedical specialised staff.  Within the framework of health projects, financing can be all granted for basic infrastructure such as water supply at wastewater systems and facilities, solid waste collection at treatment facilities, including hazardous waste, as well as felectricity and gas supply systems, IT infrastructure and electricity and services and support systems, IT infrastructure
	communication facilities (such as telephone, internet, cable, etc. The CEB strives to promote a more integrated approach healthcare, which can also better support access to healthcare for refugees and migrants. It does so by financing effective health are social care systems, with a focus on multidisciplinary primary healthcentres, selected specialised care hospitals that are inclusive are climate-resilient, and community-based long-term care and social care that enables the elderly as well as people with disabilities other vulnerable groups to lead more independent and quality living the community.  Financing health and social care also contributes to gender equality.
	and women empowerment, as well as better living conditions refugees and migrants, who often suffer worse health outcome than hosting communities and face difficulties in accessing heal services.
Eligible Costs	Surveys The preparatory surveys or studies (technical, economor or commercial, engineering, environmental and social impa assessment and management plans), the technical supervision of the project and other project related professional services. The

costs should not exceed 5% of the total cost of the project, unless justified.

Land The acquisition or preparation of land that the client can demonstrate is directly linked to the project's implementation, at its purchase price, unless it has been donated or granted.

*Infrastructure* Construction/renovation/modernisation or purchase of buildings directly linked to a project.

Basic infrastructure The installation of basic infrastructure such as sewerage, water supply, gas supply, electricity and telecommunications networks, waste disposal and waste water treatment, roads, etc.

*Sustainability* The maintenance of the viability and sustainability of the public services.

*Equipping* The purchase of materials, equipment and machinery, including IT equipment and software, as well as the related costs linked to the training of staff.

Technical assistance Technical assistance aims at providing the borrower/project implementing entity with the expertise deemed necessary for the preparation, development, implementation and monitoring of projects to be financed, or already being financed, with CEB funds.

Contingencies Contingencies for unanticipated costs (technical and/or price increases) can be financed by CEB. These represent financial coverage of unforeseen changes in the quantity of work required, or of unit prices, in the type and quantity of equipment to be purchased or in the method of carrying out the project. Depending on the sector of activity and the various components of the project, these contingencies may represent up to 10% of the total cost of the project.

Campaigns Costs related to professional/vocational training and public awareness-raising campaigns may be eligible for CEB financing taking into account their objectives within the framework of the projects.

Staff costs CEB loans cannot cover staff costs (wages/salaries and other related benefits such as pension payments), financial charges and non-cash elements such as depreciation. Such costs may however be considered eligible when they relate to project management or technical assistance required for project preparation and implementation.

Financial costs Financial costs (payment and/or refinancing of debts, interest charges, acquisition of interest in the capital of an enterprise, etc.) or financial investments cannot be included in the estimated cost of the project and cannot be financed by the CEB. Value-added Tax (VAT) VAT and other tax-related costs can be considered as eligible costs if they are non-deductible and non-refundable for the Borrower.

#### Specific Conditions

## Conditions precedent

For the first capital investment related disbursement:

- A simplified Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be completed to CEB satisfaction;
- Architectural concept including floor layouts and preliminary design including MEP, and including updated cost estimates to be completed to the CEB satisfaction;

- Tender dossier for DBE/M type of contract to be prereviewed by the CEB;
- Maintenance and facility management plan to be elaborated before start of construction works to the CEB satisfaction.

#### For the last disbursement:

- Staffing requirements for all hospital services to be defined and human resources strategy to be elaborated to the CEB satisfaction;
- 6. Waste management plan developed to the CEB satisfaction.

### Undertakings:

- 1. The following undertakings concerning alignment with the Paris Agreement should be respected:
  - Include in the design of the hospital building all measures identified in the climate risk and vulnerability assessment included in the ESIA to effectively mitigate climate risks (including particularly water efficiency measures);
  - o Ensure that the hospital building meets high energy performance standards, notably, ensure that the maximum amount of primary energy consumed for heating and domestic hot water does not exceed the maximum limit of the "B" energy performance class, according to the classification established in NCM M.01.02 "Energy Performance of Buildings Methodology for calculating the energy performance of buildings" (or the most up-to-date legislation regarding energy performance).

The above points should be included in the architectural concept and preliminary design as well as the tender dossier that shall be sent to the CEB prior to 2<sup>nd</sup> disbursement and be acceptable to the CEB.

- A simplified Environmental and Social Impact Assessment (ESIA) shall be carried out before tendering the Design Build contract, to the satisfaction of the CEB. This ESIA shall include a climate risk and vulnerability assessment to identify potential climate risks and mitigation measures.
- A "Special Guidelines for Hospital Waste Management" shall be prepared, including disposal for medical, hazardous and radioactive wastes during operation.
- 4. The Project shall be implemented in accordance with the CEB ESSP and its standards, including the standard on Resettlement, requiring, amongst others, that persons living in or earning livelihood from the area of the project

without ownership rights need also to be fairly compensated. If applicable, the Borrower should inform the CEB of these proceedings for the CEB monitoring.

- The MoH should provide the CEB with a copy of the decision allocating the land for the new regional hospital in Balti from the State to the MoH.
- 6. The MoH should provide the CEB with a copy of the Energy Performance Certificate of the building, based on compliance with Government Decision no. 896/2016 "Regulation on the procedure for the certification of the energy performance of buildings and of building units" (or the most up-to-date legislation regarding certification of energy performance).
- The MoH/PIU should ensure expert review of the quality of the designs, including specific knowledge on tertiary care and oncological health facility design, energy efficiency, as well as know-how on functional hospital programming, and other related key topics.
- A detailed human resource strategic plan, once the construction works started, should be carried out and shared with CEB.

## IV. Social impact

The new Balti Regional Hospital should provide the Northern Region of Moldova population with high quality and safe acute tertiary level hospital services comparable with the rest of Europe, containing modern organisational models of care delivery and the latest diagnostic and therapeutic technologies, avoiding the need for the population to travel lengthy distances to Chisinau for such care.

The establishment of the new hospital with advanced technologies provides the potential to reduce the number of patients having to leave the country for treatment.

The new hospital should provide for Moldova's health professionals attractive opportunities and less incentives to travel abroad to further their careers.

A new state of the art facility, with the latest technologies may in itself provide a recruitment attraction for qualified specialists, reducing the shortage of specialties in areas such as pathology, radiology and anaesthetics.

The new hospital will provide a much-improved working environment for all grades of staff and learning environment for medicine students.

In addition, the overall quality of the patients and their families' environment will be a substantial improvement compared to conditions in existing hospitals. The organisation and management of patient flows will also result in an improved patient experience; it will foster more integrated and efficient working organisation.

The new Balti Regional Hospital would meet best practice organisational arrangements, space standards and detailed

technical standards in clinical areas that would contribute to the reduction in of hospital acquired infections.

The combination of features incorporated in the new hospital should support improvements in effectiveness and outcomes; reductions in avoidable infant morbidity and mortality.

Mocil of Europe Deseropment Hone

a premer kreper 1013 Farts (France)

Projects Designation

Citize of Presentate Louiser

Framework Units Agreement Between the Council of Europe Development Sank and Fellikuft L/D

Serior Madem

The framework upon Agreement between the Council of Europe Development Bank (the "Economic in relation for State Council of Europe Development Bank (the "CLB") and the ferent Council of Europe Development Bank (the "CLB") and the ferent Council of Europe Development Bank (the "CLB") and the ferent Council of Europe Development Bank (the "Agreement") and State Unit opinion pursuant to Ansicie (w) of the ference of the feren

The nations of this opinion. If we have examined a topy of the Agreement and such other documents, with the stirt as if we have considered processing or destrable to exemine its order to issue tres opinion, to purifying the output of the serrower. If we have examined to the serrower. If we have examined to

THE RISERT LET OF GOCUMENTS.

securified in the Agreement shall have the some meaning herein, unless otherwise specified

taken the forestore. (amove are of the national than

BYCERT ONE FOR CORPORATIONS OR SIMPLAN ENTITIES; storus and tecomercular. The European's a RESERT CORPORATE FORM OF THE BORKOWER], duly organised and validly existing under the laws of IRSERT TURSORCHIONS, having no registered effica at 141, and negligible with INSERT The HAME OF TRACE/COMPANIES REGISTERS under registered efficient.

Consider, power and pullbody. The Borower has the legal capacity, power and outhoutly to enter into

internal options all ection required from the Borrower for the execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement, including any required authorisation from its competent bound, has been also delectively taken in particular, no further action is fogured from the Borrower, apart from execution by a universe powered expresentative of the Borrower, in order to issue a Disbursement Request under the Assessment

ICONSTITUTIVE EXCUSTRATE. The execution by the Borchwer of the Apprehent does not and the performance by the Borchwer of the obligations to be assumed by it thereunides will not violate or populate with any provision of its INSERT NAME OF CONSTITUTIVE DOCLAMENTS or other constitutive documents of the Rotrower I

#### **APPENDIX 2**

# Form of Legal Opinion (Framework Loan Agreement)

### [INSERT LETTERHEAD]

Council of Europe Development Bank 55, avenue Kléber 75116 Paris (France)

Attn:

Projects Department

Cc:

Office of the General Counsel

**INSERT DATE** 

Re:

Framework Loan Agreement between the Council of Europe Development Bank and [•](Ref: L/D [•])

Dear Sir or Madam,

I/We have acted as legal advisor/s as to matters of [INSERT JURISDICTION] law to [•] (the "Borrower") in relation to the Framework Loan Agreement between the Council of Europe Development Bank (the "CEB") and the Borrower dated [•] and effective as of [•] (the "Agreement") and issue this opinion pursuant to Article [•] of the Agreement.

For the purposes of this opinion, I/we have examined a copy of the Agreement and such other documents, acts or treaties as I/we have considered necessary or desirable to examine in order to issue this opinion. In particular, for the purposes of identifying the duly empowered representatives of the Borrower, I/we have examined:

## [PLEASE INSERT LIST OF DOCUMENTS]

Terms defined in the Agreement shall have the same meaning herein, unless otherwise specified.

Based on the foregoing, I am/we are of the opinion that:

- [INSERT ONLY FOR CORPORATIONS OR SIMILAR ENTITIES] Status and incorporation. The Borrower is a
  [INSERT CORPORATE FORM OF THE BORROWER], duly organised and validly existing under the laws of
  [INSERT JURISDICTION], having its registered office at [•], and registered with [INSERT THE NAME OF
  TRADE/COMPANIES REGISTER] under registration number [•].
- Capacity, power and authority. The Borrower has the legal capacity, power and authority to enter into the Agreement and perform its obligations thereunder.
- 3. Internal authorisations. All action required from the Borrower for the execution, delivery and performance of the Agreement, including any required authorisation from its competent bodies, has been duly and effectively taken. In particular, no further action is required from the Borrower, apart from execution by a duly empowered representative of the Borrower, in order to issue a Disbursement Request under the Agreement.
- 4. [Constitutive documents. The execution by the Borrower of the Agreement does not, and the performance by the Borrower of the obligations to be assumed by it thereunder will not, violate or conflict with any provision of its [INSERT NAME OF CONSTITUTIVE DOCUMENT] or other constitutive documents of the Borrower.]

- 5. [No insolvency. No steps taken to order the commencement of any recovery proceedings or bankruptcy proceedings and/or to appoint a bankruptcy administrator or a liquidator over the Borrower were recorded with [INSERT THE NAME THE COURT/TRADE REGISTRY WHERE SUCH PROCEEDINGS WOULD BE RECORDED], and no termination of operations or dissolution of the Borrower was recorded, as at the date of the [●].]
- 6. **Due execution and validity.** The Agreement was duly executed by [INSERT NAME OF THE SIGNATORY/IES] as duly empowered representative(s) of the Borrower and gives rise to legally valid, binding and enforceable undertakings for the Borrower.
- 7. External authorisations, public consents and filings. No authorisations, consents, licences, exemptions, filings, notarisations or registrations are required in [INSERT JURISDICTION] in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of the Agreement in order to give rise to legally valid, binding and enforceable undertakings for the Borrower and for the Agreement to be admissible in evidence in [INSERT JURISDICTION].
- 8. **Tax/Stamp duties.** The execution of the Agreement is not subject to any tax or stamp duties in [INSERT JURISDICTION].
- 9. Choice of law. The submission by the Borrower to the rules of the CEB as specified in the provisions of Article 1, paragraph 3, of the Third Protocol (dated 6 March 1959) to the General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe (dated 2 September 1949) and secondarily to the laws of France is legally valid and binding on the Borrower under the laws of [INSERT JURISDICTION].
- 10. Arbitration. The submission by the Borrower to the Arbitral Tribunal set forth under Chapter 4 of the CEB's Loan Regulations with respect to any dispute arising out of the Agreement is legally valid and binding on the Borrower. Any award of such Arbitral Tribunal is enforceable in [INSERT JURISDICTION] in accordance with the terms of Article 3 of the Third Protocol (dated 6 March 1959) to the General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe (dated 2 September 1949).

Yours faithfully,		
1-1		
[•]		
[INSERT NAME(S)/TITLE(S)]		
[145211 147142(5)] 11122(5)]		

## **APPENDIX 3**

# **DISBURSEMENT REQUEST (TEMPLATE)**

LD [•] - [•] Tranche

With reference to the Framework Loan Agreement dated [•] (hereinafter, the "Agreement") between the Council of Europe Development Bank (hereinafter, the "CEB") and [BORROWER] (hereinafter, the "Borrower"), the Borrower hereby requests the CEB, in accordance with Sub-clause 4.3(a) of the Agreement, to proceed with the disbursement of a Tranche under the specific terms and conditions set out below.

Terms defined in the Agreement shall have the same meaning herein, unless otherwise specified.

Currency/Amount <sup>2</sup>	[•]	[•]		
Disbursement Date		[•]		
Principal Repayment Period		[•] years [including a grace period of [•] years]		
Principal Repayment Date(s)	[•]	[•]		
Maturity Date	[•]			
Interest Rate		Maximum [●] per annum		
		Floating Reference Rate:		
	Spre	ad	Maximum [•] basis points	
Interest Period	[Quarterly] [Semi-ar	nnually] in arre	ears	
Interest Payment Dates		The interest payment will take place on [●] every year and		
Day Count Convention		Modified Following Business Day Convention		
Business Day	[•]	[•]		
Borrower's Account	Beneficiary's Name [●]			
	Beneficiary's Bank	Name	[•]	
		City	[•]	
		SWIFT	[•]	
		IBAN		
		10711	[•]	
		Reference		
	Correspondent Bar	Reference		
	Correspondent Bar	Reference	[•]	
		Reference k Name	[•]	
		Reference Name City	[•] [•]	
# B v Account	(if applicable)	Reference Name City SWIFT	[•] [•] [•] [•]	
	(if applicable)	Reference Name City SWIFT	[•] [•] [•] [•]	
or the Borrower	(if applicable)	Reference Ik Name City SWIFT IBAN	[•] [•] [•] [•]	
or the Borrower NSERT NAME(S)/TITLE(S)]	(if applicable)	Reference k Name City SWIFT IBAN	[•] [•] [•] [•] [•] [•]	
or the Borrower	(if applicable)	Reference Ik Name City SWIFT IBAN	[•] [•] [•] [•] [•] [•] [•]	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> [In case of Sub-Tranches, a separate table shall indicate the Amount, Principal Repayment Period, Principal Repayment Date(s), Interest Rate, Interest Period, Interest Payment Dates for each Sub-Tranche.]

## **DISBURSEMENT NOTICE (TEMPLATE)**

LD [•] - [•] Tranche

In response to your Disbursement Request dated [•] with reference to the Framework Loan Agreement dated [•] (hereinafter, the "Agreement") between the Council of Europe Development Bank (hereinafter, the "CEB") and [BORROWER] (hereinafter, the "Borrower"), the CEB hereby notifies to the Borrower, in accordance with Subclause 4.3(b) of the Agreement, the terms and conditions of the disbursement of the relevant Tranche.

Terms defined in the Agreement shall have the same meaning herein, unless otherwise specified.

Currency/Amount <sup>3</sup>	[•]				
Disbursement Date	[•]				
Principal Repayment Period	[•] years [including a grace period of [•] years]				
Principal Repayment Date(s)	[•]				
Maturity Date	[•]				
Interest Rate	Fixed	ed [•] per annum			
	Floating	Reference Rate:		[[•]-month EURIBOR/INSERT ANY OTHER REFERENCE RATE] per annum	
		Spread		[•] basis points	
Interest Period	[Quarterly] [Ser	ni-annu	ually] in arr	ears	
Interest Payment Dates	The interest payment will take place on [●] every year and for the first time on [●]				
Day Count Convention	Modified Following Business Day Convention			Convention	
Business Day	[•]				
Borrower's Account	Beneficiary's Name [●]				
	Beneficiary's Bank		Name	[•]	
			City	[•]	
			SWIFT	[•]	
[하고 : 기가 작동을 하게 되었다.]			IBAN	[•]	
			Reference	e [•]	
[10] : [	Correspondent Bank		Name	[•]	
	(if applicable)		City	[•]	
			SWIFT	[•]	
			IBAN	[•]	
CEB's account	Beneficiary's N	lame	Council of Europe Development B		
	Beneficiary's S	WIFT	CEFPFRPI		
	Beneficiary's Bank		Name	Deutsche Bank	
			City	Frankfurt (Germany)	
			SWIFT	DEUTDEFF	
			IBAN	DE44 5007 0010 0928 7384	

Paris, on [•]

For the CEB [INSERT NAME(S)/TITLE(S)]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> [In case of Sub-Tranches, a separate table shall indicate the Amount, Principal Repayment Period, Principal Repayment Date(s), Interest Rate, Interest Period, Interest Payment Dates for each Sub-Tranche.]

# **APPENDIX 4**

PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT  REPORTING PERIOD: dd/mm/yyyy – dd/mm/yyyy	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	ports)
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	1
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
PROJECT TITLE: BALTI REGIONAL HOSPITAL  ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT	
REPORTING PERIOD: dd/mm/yyyy – dd/mm/yyyy	
Prepared by (name, title and signature)	
Contact details	
Date	

## **Table of Contents**

#### 1. NARRATIVE REPORT

- 1.1 SUMMARY OF THE PROJECT
- 1.2 ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN AND RESULTS ACHIEVED
- 1.3 IMPACT PROSPECTS (TO BE PRESENTED IN THE COMPLETION REPORT)
- 1.4 COMMUNICATION AND VISIBILITY ACTIVITIES
- 1.5 DEVIATIONS FROM THE PLAN AND DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED, IF ANY, AND MITIGATION MEASURES
- 1.6 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT BEFORE DISBURSEMENT, IF APPLICABLE

## 2. FINANCIAL REPORT

- TABLE 1: COSTS AND FINANCING SOURCES
- TABLE 2: PROCUREMENT PLAN
- TABLE 3: AWARDED CONTRACTS
- TABLE 4: PROCUREMENT PLAN
- TABLE 5: LIST OF AWARDED CONTRACTS
- TABLE 6: IMPLEMENTATION PLAN
- TABLE 7: INDICATORS (TO BE REPORTED AT PROJECT COMPLETION AND, WHERE POSSIBLE, AT DESIGN COMPLETION)

# 1. Narrative Report

## 1.1 Summary of the Project

Title of the Project		
Objective		
Framework Loan Agreement (FLA) entry into force	carragers and being rough	to make a make a wall in facility of
Implementing Agency		
Estimated project cost	Original:	Revised:
Approved CEB loan amount		
Maximum CEB financing of total eligible costs (in percentage)		
Other sources of financing		
Implementation period	Original: mm/yy-mm/yy	Revised:
Closing date for CEB loan disbursement		

## 1.2 Activities Undertaken and Results achieved

Please describe the progress of activities in relation to the Project, including, but not limited to:

Activity	Progress and results
Land acquisition and preparation	
Studies and Design	
Procurement related activities	
Construction Works, including photos showing the latest progress	
Medical equipment and technologies	
Energy efficiency solution	
Management of environmental and health and safety issues (information on any incident, complaint and corrective action taken)	

# 1.3 Impact Prospects (to be presented in the completion report)

Provide information and comments as appropriate on the Project's contribution to achieving the overall objective.

# 1.4 Communication and Visibility Activities

Please inform about the communication and visibility activities (public announcements, media/newspaper articles that mention CEB and/or other partners) including links of any media events and articles.

# 1.5 Deviations from the Plan and difficulties encountered, if any, and mitigation measures

Provide information on any major constraints/deviations from the plan, especially, but not limited to, problems that risk delaying the project. Explain the reasons for such deviations and propose corrective measures in the table below.

Proposed Action Plan to	solve issues (if any):		
Constraint/ Deviations	Corrective Measure	Responsible	Completion Date

# 1.6 Conditions precedent before disbursement, if applicable

Please detail conditions yet to be fulfilled in line with Framework Loan Agreement requirements and inform on the progress in addressing the conditions.



# 2. Financial Report

#### TABLE 1: PROJECT COSTS and FINANCING SOURCES (VAT excluded) Country: MOLDOVA Project Ref No: LD 2144 (2023) Borrower: Republic of Moldova Reporting cut-off date: Project Name: Balti Regional Hospital **Future Estimated Expenditure** Estimated Incurred Expenditure Costs TOTAL COST Comments **Estimated Costs** Up to the Incurred Cost Items (baseline-at the (date of the Total incurred Completion of which in the time of loan vear year next 12 month approval) (A) (8) (C) = (A) + (B) (D) = (A)/(C) PHS Update, preliminary design and technical studies 2 Land acquisition & preparation 3 Main detailed design 4 Construction (including contingency) 5 Construction supervision 6 Medical equipment 7 Energy Efficiency Solution 8 Utilities Connections 9 Project Implementation 10 Contengencies TOTAL in LEU TOTAL in EUR \* Revised Baseline at the Total Funding % per Sources SOURCES OF FUNDING IN MEUR time of loan year \_\_\_ year\_\_\_ year\_\_\_ (date of the Received of Funding approval revision \_ 80,00 CEB Grant (subject to approval) Government Contribution 20,60 ESP Grant (subject ot approval) 6,00 EIB Grant 0,50 Fx rate: Average yearly ECB EUR/LEU exchange rate

#### TABLE 2 - PROCUREMENT PLAN FOR YEAR XXXX (VAT excluded) Country: MOLDOVA Project Ref No: LD 2144 (2023) Borrower: Republic of Moldova Reporting cut-off date: Project Name: Balti Regional Hospital 1. Civil Works 3 4 6 7 8 10 11 12 13 14 Estimated Domestic Costs to be Expected Expected Review by the Contract Estimated Cost Estimated Cost Expected Expected To Be Financed Number of Procurement Ref. No. Preference Date of Financed by Date of Description Bank Date of Bid in LEU EURO Date of Bid by Lots Method ESP for EE Contract (PRIOR/POST) Launching Evaluation (yes/no) component Opening Signature % \*Please indicate the source of financing of the contract 2. Goods 2 3 4 5 10 11 12 13 14 Estimated Domestic Costs to be Expected Expected Contract Estimated Cost | Estimated Cost Preference Review by the Expected Expected To Be Financed Number of Procurement Ref. No. Financed by Date of Date of Description in LEU EURO Bank Date of Bid Date of Bid (yes/no) Lots Method ESP for EE Bid Contract (PRIOR/POST) Launching Evaluation % Opening component Signature 3. Services 1 2 3 4 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 Estimated Domestic Costs to be Expected Expected Preference Description of Estimated Cost Estimated Cost Review by the Expected Expected To Be Financed Number of Selection Ref. No. Financed by Date of Date of Assignment LEU EURO Bank Date of Bid Date of Bid (yes/no) Lots Method Bid ESP for EE Contract (PRIOR/POST) Launching Evaluation Opening component Signature % NB: In column 6 please specify the financing sources expected to be used, e.g.: CEB, other IFIs, State Budget, etc. NB: The column 9 "Domestic Preference" must be filled in only in the case of ICB Procurement Method. In the case of other Procurement Methods, please insert "N/A". NB: The column 10 "Review by the Bank" will be filled in by CEB.

TARIF3 -	LIST OF AW	ARDED CONTRACTS	(VAT excluded)
IMDLL 3 -	LIST OF AW	ARDED CONTRACTS	IVA Lexcilided)

Country: MOLDOVA

Project Ref No: LD 2144 (2023) Borrower: Republic of Moldova Project Name: Balti Regional Hospital

Reporting cut-off date:

Contract Description		Supplier / C	Supplier / Contractor			act amount	Category		Contract	Contract Payment	Period of imp	elementation	Date of Reception		
Ref number	Title	Name	Country	Contract Signature	THE RESERVE OF THE PARTY OF THE	in Leu in EUR	in EUR	of contracts [1]	Paid Amount in Leu		resource (CEB Loan, ESP Grant, Government, EIB Grant)	Date of contract signature/ Start date	End date	(works/ equipment)	Modification (Comments)
							To come								
										18-21					
						William William					Out of The	DOM:			
				- District			War war and	in a		Cale Control					
												30			
						A TO SERVICE		10.00					VIII.	Lister Land	
	TOTAL														

Acronyms to be used: W for Works, G for Goods, S for services, EE for Energy Efficiency

						TABLE 4 - SPECIAL ACCOUNT STATEMENT ESP	GRANT				
Country: M	OLDOVA					THE THE RESERVE THE PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF	BU IDUST S. LAND	Reporting cu	t-off date:	Alexander III	7.73
roject Ref	No: LD 2144	(2023)									
	Republic of N						Contract Contract Contract				
		ional Hospita	d								
roject ivai	ne. built neg	ionai nospita	TeleVitt.								
					Sler-	PAYMENTS FOR THE PROJ	IFCT EXPENDITURES				
		AMOUNT OF				as of DD/MM					4
Nr. TRANCHE	Disbursement	THE TRANCHE	PATE /at date	COUNTERVALUE In		(in LEU					MODIFICATION
W. HOWER	Date	DISBURSED (IN EUR)	of transfer)	LEU	Date	Description	Type of Expenditures	Amount paid	exchange rate at the date of payment (*)	Amount paid in EUR	COMMENTS
1	2	3	4	5	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
rst Tranche	Marian Marian		or man half								
Thusbar		STATE OF				WALL AND THAT ON BURN THE HARM THE CHANGE SHEET		1 2 2 2 2			
113 11 11	PUPPING A	e by the second								- I - I - S	
1.01.119	E CHYDIN	15.6 11.84							Epterta pl		NOT PROPER
MALTIN			11/12/2014	THE REAL PROPERTY.							
	Unit/Lodg	THE DOWN FOR	her the s	grotting in the				A Marine Marine			
	territoria (militaria)							10.17.19			
100			Marine V								Was a series
									EDUCATION		
710 - 0	1000									1264 1264	
766	1000							PART NO.	-1.6-46-70		430
			7/10/20								
100					The second						
- A - 12		A STATE OF THE STA		2014	TOTAL						A CONTRACTOR
cond					IUIAL						
ranche			Name of Street								
	I more also	The latest the									
	THE STREET						Service of the servic	- VIEW TO THE THE	- The state of the		
					L. Butal						
WENT THE			GALACTIC AT		SELVE OF THE			A describer of	MA INTERNAL		III CANDONIA DE
						(1) 连 (40) (1) (2) (1) (2) (1) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (3) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4			STEELING TO		CONTRACTOR DE
	make explored										Recorded to
	MY WINDS	Manager Co.			VIOLEN IN			THE PROPERTY OF		N. BUNCHER	12-75-66-30
	ALC: UNKNOWN				mch.				1 3 3 1 1 1		
									San Maria		
PARTONEL I		PERIF		SHEET WAY	ESCH JITSE						PARK TIME SALE
	31-40-148-14			AND DESCRIPTION					Real Comments	SILL SO MAN	E TOTAL CO
S. Marie			The Miles of the					The state of the s			
March Al	September 1	AL CONTRACTOR		and the street of	TOTAL	EUR exchange rate at the payment date				Letter to the second	

Activities (indicative list, subject to revision)		2023			2024			2025			2026				2027				2028				% of				
		Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	completio	
1.	Architectural concept/Preliminary design	Baseline*	in t							11		T.			100						-						
1.	Architectural concepty Freinfillary design	Actual **					-	-								- IV-								100			
2.	Tender documentation finalised	Baseline				10				+	m			77								1	-		90		
	Tender documentation initialised	Actual				100					7									Land of							
3.	3. Launching Tender	Baseline											SL														
٥.		Actual	18																								
4.	Construction Works (from the start to	Baseline										y-ry				S-1				-							
4.	completion)	Actual																									7.5
5.	S In the William of the Street Street Street Street	Baseline		Page 1														w jej									
Э.	Equipment Installation	Actual																					1				14
6.	Construction contracte completion and	Baseline							H		-		lon-in	1									and the				
0.	handover	Actual									-		-						-								
7.	Commissioning of the new Balti Hospital	Baseline														11.											
	and the new Balti Hospital	Actual										583				1											
8.	Decommissing of existing Hospital	Baseline						-													7			-		-	
-	becommissing of existing Hospital	Actual									100		1	Mark													

<sup>\*</sup>Baseline implementation plan = plan presented in the FLA

<sup>\*\*</sup>Actual implementation plan = revised plan at the time of reporting

INDICATORS	Units	Baseline	Project Target	Achieved at completion	Comments
Project Investment Cost (Total)	Million €				
Project timescale control Start / End of Works	Month / Year		16		
npatient bed numbers as planned	nr		V .		Telephone in the second
mproving ALOS (-)/ABO (+) performance*	Days & %				
Medical equipment purchased to reduce bottlenecks and waiting lists and waiting times	MEUR and nr.		garler .		
Continuing planned increases in ambulatory, day and short stay productivity achieved	nr				
Naiting list and waiting times for non-urgent surgical nterventions reduced	nr weeks				
Naiting list and waiting times for ambulatory and diagnostic tests reduced	nr weeks	9 5 12	83981 W		
Reductions in avoidable morbidity and mortality in particular the rate of HAI	% total inpatients		40 Mg 10 Mg	10	
Construction gross floor area	m²	S. C. Lee	1 123		
rull Time Equivalent (FTE) health care professionals	nr	51 57 BELLEVILLE			
full Time Equivalent (FTE) total staff	nr				
Proportion of male/female staff employed by medical, nursing and non-medical categories	%			2	
Number of beds per room	%	8 0 0			
Share of patients covered by national insurance	%	to the seal			
Init costs per case treated reduced	EUR/case		CALL TANK		
Share of annual operating costs spent on PPM adequate or maintain quality of infrastructure	%				
Reductions in greenhouse gases emissions or onsumption, if available	%, tCO2 eq or kWh/m2/year		A TA		
nergy certificate level (A,B,C) targeted, if available	Level		Mary Indiana		





# Council of Europe Development Bank

# Loan regulations

(Adopted by the Administrative Council by Resolution 1587, on 17 November 2016)

# **CHAPTER 1**

# Object of the Loan Regulations

#### **ARTICLE 1.1**

# Object of the Loan Regulations

The present Loan Regulations lay down the general conditions governing loans granted by the Bank and guarantees thereof.

# **ARTICLE 1.2**

# Conflict between the Loan Regulations and provisions of loan and guarantee agreements

The Bank may provide for exceptions to the conditions laid down in these regulations. In the event of conflict between the provisions of these regulations and one or more provisions of loan agreements or guarantee agreements, the latter provisions shall prevail.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# Conditions governing loans granted by the Bank and guarantees thereof

## **ARTICLE 2.1**

# Purpose of the loan

Loans granted by the Bank shall finance projects approved by the Administrative Council, eligible under the Bank's Applicable Rules.

### **ARTICLE 2.2**

# Loans and guarantees

Loans granted by the Bank in accordance with Article VII, 1 of the Articles of Agreement shall be covered by adequate guarantees as provided for in Article VII, 2 of the Articles of Agreement.

A guarantor shall be released from his obligations by execution thereof, but only in so far as he has fulfilled them.

Such obligations shall not be subject to any demands upon or action against the guarantor; they shall, however, be subject to a notice from the Bank to the guarantor informing the latter of the failure of the borrower to fulfil his obligations vis-à-vis the Bank.

The obligations of the guarantor shall not be affected by any extension of time, forbearance or concession granted to the borrower, nor by any assertion of, or failure to assert any right or remedy against the borrower or in respect of any security for the loan, nor by any failure of the borrower to comply with any requirements of any law, decree or regulations of the guarantor or of any political or administrative authority under the guarantor.

#### **ARTICLE 2.3**

#### State Guarantees

The State Guarantee may be given by special contract between the Bank and the guarantor or by the endorsement of the loan agreement by the guarantor.

#### ARTICLE 2.4

### Loan Agreement

For each project approved by the Administrative Council the Bank shall enter into a framework loan agreement. Each disbursement shall be separately documented and requires the conditions set out in the framework loan agreement to be met.

#### **CHAPTER 3**

Suspension and cancellation of undisbursed loans; early reimbursement of loans; voluntary early reimbursement of loans

#### **ARTICLE 3.1**

# Suspension or cancellation by the borrower of undisbursed loans following the signature of a loan agreement

Following the entering into a loan agreement between the Bank and the borrower, were this latter to cancel or suspend all or part of a loan before it has been fully or partly disbursed, the borrower shall be required to compensate the Bank for the loss sustained as a result of such cancellation or suspension by paying a single commission at a rate to be fixed by the Bank in relation to the proportion of the loan cancelled or suspended. This provision shall also apply to the guarantor.

#### ARTICLE 3.2

# Voluntary early reimbursement of disbursed loans at the request of the borrower

A borrower may be authorised by decision of the Bank to reimburse a loan in advance of maturity. The conditions of such reimbursement shall be decided by the Bank.

#### **ARTICLE 3.3**

#### Early reimbursement of disbursed loans

The Bank may demand early reimbursement of disbursed loans in the following cases:

- (a) where the borrower or guarantor fails to repay the principal or pay the interest or any other sum due under a loan agreement or guarantee agreement between the Bank and the borrower or under a loan agreement or guarantee agreement between the Bank and the guarantor, whether their default relates to the agreement in question or to any other agreement between the Bank and the same borrower or guarantor;
- (b) where the borrower or guarantor fails to fulfil an obligation arising out of any other stipulation or clause in these regulations or in a loan agreement or a guarantee agreement, whether the default relates to the agreement in question or to any other agreement between the Bank and the same borrower or guarantor and where the interests and objectives of the Bank are prejudiced thereby;

- (c) where an exceptional situation arises which makes the fulfilment of the borrower's or guarantor's obligations uncertain;
- (d) where the borrower or guarantor takes or authorises any measure or institutes or allows to be instituted any proceedings whereby any property belonging to him is or may be assigned, transferred, or delivered in any way whatsoever to an official receiver, assignee, liquidator or other person, whether that person be appointed by the borrower, a court, or the guarantor, or be acting in pursuance of any law, and where the said measure or proceedings result in, or provide for, the distribution of such property among the creditors of the borrower or guarantor;
- (e) where the guarantor or any competent governmental authority takes any action to dissolve or to put an end to the activities of the borrower or to suspend its operations;
- (f) in the case of loans granted to a member of the Bank, where the borrower or the guarantor ceases to be a member of the Bank;
- (g) (i) in the case of misprocurement, corruption, fraud, or money laundering, where the borrower has not taken timely and appropriate actions to prevent or remedy the situation arising from such misprocurement, corruption, fraud, or money laundering;
  - (ii) where the implementation of the project financed by the Bank leads to a violation of the Bank's Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy;
  - (iii) where the implementation of the project financed by the Bank leads to a violation of the European Convention on Human Rights and the European Social Charter;
- (h) where any other event specified in the loan agreement or the guarantee agreement occurs, giving rise to the application of this article.

#### **ARTICLE 3.4**

#### Time Allowed

In case of loans to one of the members of the Bank, early reimbursement pursuant to article 3.3 above is conditional upon

- (a) any of the contingencies set forth in Article 3.3 (a) having prevailed for more than thirty calendar days;
- (b) one of the contingencies set forth in Article 3.3(b) of the same article has prevailed for more than sixty calendar days.

#### **ARTICLE 3.5**

# Suspension by the Bank of undisbursed loans

If any of the contingencies described in Article 3.3 should arise, the Bank may at any time suspend all or part of the disbursement of further tranches of the loan by giving notice to the borrower and to the guarantor.

Suspension shall end on the date on which the Bank notifies the borrower and the guarantor that the cause of suspension is no longer operative.

# ARTICLE 3.6

# Cancellation by the Bank of undisbursed loans

If any of the contingencies described in Article 3.3 arises, the Bank may also, by notifying the borrower and the guarantor, cancel permanently all or part of the undisbursed loan. Such a decision to cancel a loan may also be taken after a suspension.

# ARTICLE 3.7

### Commission applicable to cases set out in Article 3.1

Should the Bank sustain a loss as a result of suspension, cancellation or early reimbursement, as provided above, the single commission specified in Article 3.1 shall also be payable.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# Settlement of disputes in respect of loans from the Bank or guarantees pertaining thereto

#### ARTICLE 4.1

#### Arbitration

Any dispute between the parties to the loan agreement and, where applicable, the guarantee agreement in respect of the interpretation or execution of such agreements or in respect of a claim by one of the said parties against another arising out of the loan agreement the guarantee agreement, or these regulations, which has not been settled by agreement between the parties shall be submitted for arbitration in the manner prescribed below.

#### **ARTICLE 4.2**

#### Commencement of arbitration proceedings

Arbitration proceedings may be instituted by any one of the parties specified in the preceding section by means of a request notified to all the other parties; the request shall state the nature and subject of the dispute and set forth the claims to be submitted for arbitration.

#### ARTICLE 4.3

# Appointment of the arbitral tribunal

In any arbitration proceedings instituted in pursuance of this article, the borrower or the guarantor (if any) may be a party alongside the guarantor or the borrower as the case may be.

For any dispute submitted for arbitration in pursuance of this article, an arbitral tribunal shall be set up. It shall consist of three arbitrators appointed as follows:

- (a) one arbitrator shall be appointed by the Bank;
- (b) a second arbitrator shall be appointed by the borrower or, where applicable, by agreement between the borrower and the guarantor or, failing such agreement, by the guarantor;

- (c) a third arbitrator, called the umpire, who shall act as President of the arbitral tribunal, shall be appointed by common consent between the parties or, failing such consent, by the President of the European Court of Human Rights or, should the latter have the nationality of the guarantor or be of the same nationality as the borrower, by the Vice-President of the Court or, if the latter is in the same situation, by the senior of those Judges of the Court who neither have the nationality of the guarantor nor are of the same nationality of the borrower;
- (d) the procedure described in the preceding paragraph shall take place, at the instance of one of the parties to the dispute, if, within one month after notice has been given of the request for arbitration, no agreement has been reached regarding the appointment of an umpire;
- (e) where one of the parties appoints no arbitrator, the umpire shall appoint the said arbitrator.

#### **ARTICLE 4.4**

## Place of arbitration

The arbitral tribunal shall hold its first sitting on such date and at such place as shall be appointed by the umpire. Thereafter, the tribunal shall decide itself where and when it shall sit

#### **ARTICLE 4.5**

# Law applicable to arbitration proceedings

The arbitral tribunal shall decide all questions relating to its competence. It shall lay down its own rules of procedure and shall choose the law which shall be applicable, unless that law is specified in the contracts or in the arbitration agreement, bearing in mind the provisions of Article 1 (3) of the Third Protocol to the General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe. All decisions of the tribunal shall be by majority vote.

Domestic law may apply in a particular case provided that it does not derogate from the Third Protocol to the General Agreement on Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe and from the Articles of Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 4.6**

#### Award of the arbitral tribunal

All awards of the arbitral tribunal shall set out the grounds for the decision. They shall be final and binding upon all the parties referred to in Article 4.3. They may be rendered in default of submissions.

#### ARTICLE 4.7

#### Cost of arbitration

The party against whom the award is made shall bear the costs of the arbitration proceedings unless the arbitral tribunal decides otherwise or the parties have agreed otherwise by a clause in the loan contract or the guarantee contract. The arbitral tribunal shall give a final ruling on any dispute in respect of costs.

#### **ARTICLE 4.8**

# **Enforcement of arbitral awards**

The loan agreement and the guarantee agreement shall contain whatever provisions are required to ensure, in respect of the Bank and in respect of the borrower and the guarantor, compliance with any awards made in pursuance of this chapter.

If, within one month after the originals of the award have been delivered to the parties, the award has not been complied with, any of the parties specified in Article 4.3 may institute proceedings for the enforcement of the award. The court which shall have jurisdiction for such proceedings shall be that designated by the rules of civil procedure of the State concerned.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

### Miscellaneous provisions

#### ARTICLE 5.1

#### Entry into force

The date of entry into force of a loan agreement or a guarantee agreement shall be specified therein. It may be specified subject to a condition, in which case the contract shall not come into force until that condition has been fulfilled and the Bank has been duly notified by the Borrower and/or the Guarantor.

Should the condition governing the entry into force of a loan agreement or a guarantee agreement not be fulfilled, the borrower or the guarantor shall, if the Bank has sustained a loss, be required to pay to the Bank a single commission at a rate to be fixed by the Bank in relation to the amount specified in the loan contract.

# **ARTICLE 5.2**

# Discharge of obligations

The loan agreement and the guarantee agreement and the obligations of the parties thereunder, save for those regarding the ex-post evaluation of the project as provided for in the loan agreement shall cease as soon as the whole of the loan principal as well as interest and any other charges in respect of the loan or the loan guarantee have been paid.

## **ARTICLE 5.3**

#### **Notices**

Any notice or request which must or may be given or made under the terms of these regulations or loan agreements or guarantee agreements shall be given or made in writing.

# **ARTICLE 5.4**

#### Copies

Loan agreements and guarantee agreements may be drawn up in more than one copy, each of which shall be regarded as an original.

#### **ARTICLE 5.5**

# Language of Loan Regulations

These regulations have been drawn up in English and in French, both versions being equally authentic.

### **CHAPTER 6**

#### **Definitions**

**Applicable Rules** means the Third Protocol to the General Agreement on the Privileges and Immunities of the Council of Europe, the Articles of Agreement of the Bank, the Loan Regulations, the Loan and Project Financing Policy, the Environmental and Social Safeguards Policy, the Guidelines for Procurement of Supplies, Works and Services and the Anti-corruption Charter.

Bank means the Council of Europe Development Bank

**European Convention on Human Rights** means the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, 4 November 1950, CETS n° 5

**European Social Charter** means the European Social Charter, 3 May 1996, CETS nº163, as amended from time to time.

**State Guarantees** means guarantees given by a member state of the Bank to the benefit of the Bank with respect to loans granted by the Bank to any legal person in a member state.

IN

In &